

# Chapter 3: Impact Assessment Methodology



# **Table of Contents**

3	Impact Assessment Methodology 3-1
3.1	Introduction
3.2	ESIA Process3-13.2.1Screening3-33.2.2ESIA Scoping3-53.2.2.1Environmental Issues Identification (ENVIID) Register3-53.2.2.2Desk-Based Studies – Review of Existing Baseline Information3-63.2.2.3Identifying Receptors3-63.2.2.4Analysis of Alternatives3-63.2.3Additional Baseline Field Surveys and Studies3-7
3.3	Impact Assessment Framework3-73.3.1Activities and Impacts3-83.3.2Impacts Nature and Type3-103.3.3Impact Magnitude3-113.4Receptor Sensitivity (Resilience and Value)3-123.5Impact Significance3-123.6Waste3-153.7Unplanned Events3-153.8Cumulative Impacts3-153.9Transboundary Impacts3-163.10Impact Mitigation3-163.3.11Residual Impact Assessment3-173.3.12Environmental and Social Management Plans3-17
3.4	Stakeholder Engagement
3.5	Data Limitations

# **Tables**

Table 3.1 Environmental and Social Screening Matrix	3-5
Table 3.2 Impact Assessment Terminology	3-10
Table 3.3 Impacts Significance Matrix	3-13
Table 3.4 Impact Significance Definitions	3-13
Table 3.5 Assessment of Potential Impacts: Example Table	3-14

# **Figures**

Figure 3.1 Overall ESIA Process	3-4
Figure 3.2 Impact Identification and Assessment Process	3-8
Figure 3.3 Example of Project Activity - Impact Pathways	3-9
Figure 3.4 Mitigation Hierarchy	3-16



# 3 Impact Assessment Methodology

# 3.1 Introduction

The impact assessment methodology used in this Environmental and Social Impact Assessment (ESIA) Report provides a basis to characterise the potential environmental and social impacts of the Project. The methodology is based on models commonly employed in impact assessment, and takes into consideration the International Finance Corporation (IFC) Performance Standards (PS).

Potential impacts arising from planned activities and unplanned events are assessed. Planned activities include routine and non-routine Project Activities or events required for the Construction and Pre-Commissioning, Operational, or Decommissioning Phases of the Project. Unplanned events are those not anticipated to occur during the normal course of Project Activities; for example, the unlikely event of a vessel collision that may lead to a spill of fuel.

The impact assessment methodology for planned activities takes into consideration impact magnitude and receptor sensitivity. A matrix is also used to derive impact significance, for preand post-mitigation conditions.

The concept of likelihood is included in the methodology for unplanned events. The likelihood of the event occurring, and the likelihood of impacts arising, is considered.

The assessment of discipline-specific impacts is presented in Chapters 7 to 12. Unplanned Events are addressed in Chapter 13, and Cumulative and Transboundary impacts are assessed in Chapters 14 and 15, respectively.

# **3.2 ESIA Process**

The ESIA process is a systematic approach to identifying the environmental and social impacts of a project, and describing the mitigation, management and monitoring measures that will be implemented to address these impacts. Ultimately, it allows relevant organisations to make informed decisions about development proposals, and allows potentially affected stakeholders to participate in the process.

In order to ensure a robust and detailed impact assessment, the ESIA process has been structured over a series of progressive and iterative stages (Figure 3.1). Stakeholders, the Project team, and the assessment team provided input to these stages during the ESIA process.

As part of the Project design, measures to avoid or minimise impacts were identified and incorporated into the design. These are referred to as "design controls" and include physical design features and management measures. These design controls considered the IFC mitigation hierarchy as discussed in PS1. Section 3.3.10 of this report discusses this hierarchy and how it was applied to the Project's impact assessment in more detail. They are based on Good International Industry Practice (GIIP) and are intended to assist in the avoidance and control of unacceptable impacts. Specific design controls are described in greater detail in **Chapter 5 Project Description**. Where the outcome of the ESIA indicates that design

controls are insufficient to manage an impact to an acceptable level, further measures have been identified. These measures have been termed "mitigation measures" and are described in respective chapters and detailed in Environmental and Social Management Plans (**Chapter 16 Environmental and Social Management**).

As shown in Figure 3.1, the ESIA process comprised the following stages:

- *Screening*: an initial identification of potential interactions between the Project and physical, ecological and human receptors (Section 3.2.1) indicating the level of impact assessment required;
- *ESIA Scoping*: outlines the perceived required scope of the ESIA to be undertaken, taking into consideration the nature of the Project, the results of the screening and applicable requirements. This stage included:
  - Environmental Issues Identification (ENVIID): a process of systematic identification of potential interactions between Project activities or events and known receptors (Section 3.2.2.1);
  - Desk-based studies: a review of existing environmental and social information, and gap analysis to identify additional baseline information required for the impact assessment. This included review of previous environmental and geophysical/geotechnical survey data collected by Peter Gaz LLC on behalf of Gazprom between 2008 and 2012 (Section 3.2.2.2);
  - Identification of potential physical, ecological, and human receptors that may be affected by the Project (Section 3.2.2.3);
  - Alternatives: assessment of Project technical alternatives at the Scoping Stage, including alternative routes and methods (Section 3.2.2.4); and
  - Stakeholder engagement: in July 2013, the South Stream Offshore Pipeline Turkish Sector: Scoping Report (Ref. 3.1) was published by South Stream Transport on the company website. Copies were also made available in Sinop, and provided directly to some stakeholders. Interested and affected parties were invited by direct invitation to participate in scoping meetings, held in Istanbul, Ankara and Trabzon during the week of 29 July to 2 August 2013. (See Chapter 6 Stakeholder Engagement for further details). Feedback from the scoping meetings was taken into consideration in the ESIA process.
- *Baseline Surveys and Studies*: following a gap analysis undertaken as part of the ESIA Scoping Stage, baseline surveys and studies were undertaken to complement existing information. The baseline environmental and social conditions against which the impact assessment was to be undertaken (Section 3.2.3) were described;
- *Impact Assessment*: this stage included:
  - Building on the ENVIID conducted during the Scoping Stage to describe activities and potential impacts (Section 3.2.2);
  - Determining the nature of impact (Section 3.3.2), the expected magnitude of impact (Section 3.3.3) and the sensitivity of receptors (Section 3.3.4);
  - Assessing the significance of potential impacts (Section 3.3.5) prior to planned mitigation;



- Considering unplanned events, i.e. those events which are not expected to happen during the Project but for which the risk of the event occurrence needs to be assessed (Section 3.3.7);
- Considering the potential for Project impacts to combine with other impacts associated with existing or planned developments (cumulative impacts, Section 3.3.8) and the potential for Project impacts to extend across national boundaries (transboundary impacts, Section 3.3.9); and
- Assessing the significance of residual impacts (Section 3.3.5) taking into consideration proposed mitigation measures (Section 3.3.10).
- Environmental and Social Management Plan: this stage included the development of management plans and procedures as part of South Stream Transport's Health, Safety, Security and Environmental Integrated Management System (HSSE-IMS), which captures all of the mitigation measures identified so that they can be practically applied as part of Project development (Section 3.3.12);
- *Stakeholder Engagement*: consultation with regulators and other stakeholders regarding the scope and content of the ESIA Report as well as aiding in the identification of potential Project impacts. Stakeholder engagement has and continues to run across the entire ESIA process (Section 3.4); and
- *ESIA Report Disclosure*: release of the ESIA Report to the public so that they can provide opinion and comment on the report or the planned environmental and social management of the Project.

The process is summarised in Figure 3.1, and is described in further detail in the following subsections.

# 3.2.1 Screening

Screening <sup>1</sup> was the first stage undertaken during the ESIA process to identify potential interactions between the Project and existing physical, ecological, and human receptors. Undertaking screening early in the ESIA process facilitated the incorporation of environmental and social considerations into the development of the Project design.

The Screening Stage included the following key steps:

- Identification of Project components and activities;
- Identification of likely physical, ecological and human receptors based on existing knowledge of the environmental and social baseline conditions and professional expertise;
- Examination of relevant national and international legislative requirements; and
- Development of a screening matrix to illustrate the potential interactions of Project Activities with the physical, ecological and human receptors.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Screening in the context of this section refers to early stage of scoping prior to the preparation of the Scoping Report (Ref 3.1).

Figure 3.1 Overall ESIA Process





Decommissioning activities were not considered in detail during the Screening Stage due to limited information available at that time. The resultant screening matrix is presented in Table 3.1.

#### Table 3.1 Environmental and Social Screening Matrix

Impact Receptors Project Activities		
	Construction Activities	Operational Activities
Physical		
Water	√	
Sediments	√	
Climate and Air Quality	√	
Ecological		
Plankton	√	
Marine Mammals	√	
Seabirds	√	
Fish	√	
Human		
Cultural Heritage	√	
Marine Users	√	✓

# 3.2.2 ESIA Scoping

Following the Screening Stage, scoping was undertaken to provide further detail of potential environmental and social effects of the Project using additional engineering and baseline data. The Scoping Stage intended to facilitate impact identification in a consistent and robust manner.

### 3.2.2.1 Environmental Issues Identification (ENVIID) Register

Scoping included a systematic consideration of Project Activities and their potential impact on physical, ecological and human receptors. An ENVIID was conducted to determine activities, receptors and impacts of all phases of the Project. This process, supported by interdisciplinary workshops (attended by Project engineers and environmental and social scientists), enabled a comprehensive identification of the Project's potential interactions (beneficial and adverse) with

physical, ecological and human receptors. This information was recorded in an ENVIID Register that provided a reference for potential impacts requiring further investigation during the ESIA process.

#### 3.2.2.2 Desk-Based Studies – Review of Existing Baseline Information

An important component of the Scoping Stage is the definition of existing baseline conditions (i.e. the prevailing environmental and social characteristics against which the potential impacts of the Project can be assessed). Baseline conditions were outlined during the Scoping Stage through a review of existing environmental and social information.

Information was available in environmental and geophysical and geotechnical survey data and reports prepared for the Project between 2009 and 2012 (Ref. 3.2 and Ref. 3.3). This information included the results of marine ecology, water quality, sediment and geology surveys undertaken within the Survey Areas as well as a thorough literature review.

In addition to Project-specific information, scientific journals, reports by government agencies and by other groups, were reviewed for relevant baseline information.

Existing baseline information used for the Scoping Stage also formed the core of baseline information in the impact assessment (Section 3.3). Where gaps were identified between baseline information available at the Scoping Stage and that required for the ESIA Report (e.g. out of date, too narrow in scope, etc.), additional surveys or studies were carried out to collect the required information.

#### 3.2.2.3 Identifying Receptors

Receptors are environmental components, people and cultural heritage assets that may be affected, adversely or beneficially, by the Project. Potential receptors were identified through both desk- and field-based studies, taking into consideration likely Project impacts. Based on the review of existing information, three high-level categories of Project receptors were identified:

- Physical (i.e. non-living environmental components, including air quality and marine sediments and geology);
- Ecological (i.e. fauna); and
- Human (i.e. marine users and cultural heritage).

Individual receptors within these groups were assessed as part of the impact assessment (Chapters 7 to 12) for their sensitivity to the potential impacts of the Project. Human receptors identified formed the basis of the stakeholder engagement activities undertaken (Section 3.4).

### 3.2.2.4 Analysis of Alternatives

An analysis was undertaken of technically and financially feasible alternatives that would allow the development of a new supply route that provides a safe and reliable means to export Russian gas to the countries of Central and South-Eastern Europe via the Black Sea.



The presentation of the Analysis of Alternatives follows a 'narrowing approach' involving a series of logical steps, starting with the high-level alternatives and progressively narrowing-in on more detailed alternatives. Using this commonly adopted approach the Analysis of Alternatives considers each of the following in series:

- The 'Zero' or 'No Project' alternative;
- South Stream Offshore Pipeline alternatives:
  - Alternative means of gas transportation; and
  - Offshore (macro) routing.
- Project Alternatives:
  - Route optimisation.

Further information is provided in **Chapter 4 Analysis of Alternatives**. Alternative mitigation and monitoring measures were also considered in the course of the assessment.

### 3.2.3 Additional Baseline Field Surveys and Studies

Field studies and desk-based research required to address identified gaps in baseline data were carried out during 2012 and 2013, and included:

- *Geophysical and Geotechnical Surveys*: identification of geological anomalies in the Survey Area (Ref. 3.2 and Ref. 3.3);
- *Abyssal Plain Study*: analysis of geophysical data was also undertaken along with a review of published literature to assess the presence of benthic habitats in the Project Area (Ref. 3.4); and
- *Fisheries Study*: through a review of published data and consultation with fisheries organisations (Ref. 3.5).

The details of the surveys undertaken (timing, location, methods and results), together with information gathered through the desk-based studies, are presented in the relevant chapters of this ESIA Report.

# **3.3** Impact Assessment Framework

The process for assessing potential Project impacts is illustrated in Figure 3.2 and involved:

- *Prediction*: What will happen to the environment as a consequence of this Project (i.e. defining Project activities and impacts)?
- *Evaluation*: Will it have a beneficial or adverse effect? How big is the change expected to be? How important will it be to the affected receptors?
- *Mitigation*: If the impact is of concern, can anything be done to avoid, minimise, or offset the impact? Or to enhance potential benefits?
- *Residual Impact*: After mitigation, is the impact still of concern?



### Figure 3.2 Impact Identification and Assessment Process

Impact significance was assessed with and without mitigation measures in place. The impact significance without mitigation measures was assessed with the design controls in place (Section 3.2). Impacts without mitigation measures in place are not representative of the Project's actual extent of impact, and are included to facilitate understanding of how and why mitigation measures were identified.

The residual impact is what remains following the application of mitigation and management measures, and is thus the final level of impact associated with the development of the Project. Residual impacts also serve as the focus of management and monitoring activities during Project implementation to verify that actual impacts are the same as those predicted in this ESIA Report.

For some types of impact there are empirical, objective and established criteria for determining the potential impact significance (e.g. if a standard is breached or a protected area is damaged). However, in other cases assessment criteria are more subjective and require professional judgement to a greater degree. The criteria against which the significance of planned impacts was evaluated, for the purposes of this Project, has been described in terms of two components: impact magnitude (Section 3.3.3) and receptor sensitivity (Section 3.3.4). The assessment of unplanned impacts is described in Section 3.3.7.

# 3.3.1 Activities and Impacts

Building upon the ENVIID process conducted during the Scoping Stage, Project Activities and potential environmental, socio-economic and cultural heritage impacts upon receptors were



further defined. For this purpose, the definition of a Project impact was adapted from ISO 14001:2004 (Ref. 3.6)<sup>2</sup> as:

• "Any change to the environment [or social receptors], whether adverse or beneficial, wholly or partially resulting from an organization's environmental [or social] aspects."

Definitions of an 'activity' and a 'receptor' are not included within ISO 14001:2004, but for the purposes of this Project the following definitions are provided:

A Project Activity is considered to be:

• A physical action or presence of infrastructure associated with the operation of Project plant, equipment or vehicles, or the actions of Project employees.

A receptor is considered to be:

• Someone or something that could be influenced by the Project, including water resources, air quality, ecological habitats or species, cultural heritage, and the wider environment.

An impact therefore represents the effect of an interaction of a Project Activity with the receptor. Two examples of these relationships are provided in Figure 3.3.

#### Figure 3.3 Example of Project Activity - Impact Pathways



<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Although not designed specifically for use in impact assessment certain terms and principles of this standard were adopted to assist with the impact identification / Scoping Stage.

Project Activities were identified through a review of the project description (**Chapter 5 Project Description**). Potential impacts were identified based on the details of Project activities and their potential interactions with the surrounding environment, and physical, ecological, and/or human receptors. This also required an understanding of the potential sources of impacts and impact pathways, and was supported by:

- An understanding of baseline conditions and potential receptors (Chapters 7 to 12);
- The spatial and temporal extent of the Project Area of Influence (**Chapter 1 Introduction**);
- Information from stakeholders, including authorities, experts, and the public (**Chapter 6 Stakeholder Engagement**); and
- Professional knowledge and experience of comparable projects or developments.

To some extent, the identification and understanding of Project Activities and impacts was an iterative process conducted throughout the ESIA process as more Project and environmental and social baseline information became available.

The assessment of these environmental, socio-economic and cultural heritage impacts has been structured according to the following technical disciplines:

- Physical and Geophysical environment (Chapter 7);
- Biological Environment (Chapter 8);
- Socio-economics (Chapter 9);
- Cultural heritage (Chapter 10);
- Ecosystem services (Chapter 11); and
- Waste (Chapter 12).

### **3.3.2 Impacts Nature and Type**

Whether an impact is considered to be beneficial or adverse, i.e., impact nature, and the way in which it is related to the Project, i.e., impact type, e.g. direct, indirect, are relevant to the ESIA process. In particular, the degree to which an impact may be managed or modified by the mitigation measures is dependent upon the impact nature and type; Table 3.2 provides definitions.

#### **Table 3.2 Impact Assessment Terminology**

Term	Definition
Impact Nature	
Adverse Impact	Impacts that are considered to represent an adverse change from the baseline condition or introduces a new undesirable factor.

Continued...



Term	Definition
Beneficial Impact	Impacts that are considered to represent an improvement on the baseline condition or introduces a new desirable factor.
Impact Type	
Direct Impact	Impacts that result from a direct interaction between a Project Activity and the receiving environment (e.g. between occupation of an area of seabed and the area lost for other marine users).
Secondary Impact	Impacts that follow on from the primary interactions between the Project and its environment as a result of subsequent interactions within the environment (e.g. loss of part of a habitat (e.g. the open sea) affects the viability of a species population over a wider area).
Cumulative Impact	Impacts that act together with other impacts, from other existing, planned and reasonably predictable future projects and developments, to affect the same environmental resource or receptor.

Complete.

In considering impacts related to the Project, both adverse and beneficial impacts have been identified. Where appropriate, the impact assessment chapters further identify impacts as direct, indirect or secondary impacts. Where appropriate, both impact nature and type definitions have been applied throughout the ESIA Report to provide clarity regarding the significance of the impacts. Cumulative impacts are discussed in Section 3.3.8 and in **Chapter 14 Cumulative Impact Assessment**.

### 3.3.3 Impact Magnitude

The magnitude of an impact is a measure of change from baseline conditions. This measure of change can be described in terms of its:

- *Extent*: spatial extent (e.g. area impacted) or population extent (e.g. proportion of the population / community affected) of an impact;
- *Duration*: how long the impact will interact with the receiving environment;
- *Frequency*: how often the impact will occur; and
- *Reversibility*: how long before impacts on receptors cease to be evident.

Thus, these characteristics collectively describe the nature, physical extent, and temporal condition of the impact. To facilitate a structured description of impact magnitude, a qualitative scale was applied, ranking the magnitude of change as negligible, low, moderate, or high developed for each of the magnitude characteristics.

The criteria for each of these impact magnitude categories (i.e. negligible, low, moderate and high ranking criteria) were developed as appropriate for each discipline, and are described in Chapters 7 to 12.

The determination of overall impact magnitude rating was determined on the basis of professional judgement and GIIP, considering all four characteristics collectively where relevant.

### 3.3.4 Receptor Sensitivity (Resilience and Value)

Receptor sensitivity is the degree to which a particular receptor is more or less susceptible to a given impact. Receptor sensitivity takes into consideration receptor resilience and value.

Receptor resilience (or conversely, vulnerability) describes the ability of the receptor to withstand adverse impacts. It takes into consideration not only activity-impact-receptor pathways, but also environmental characteristics of the receptor that might make it more or less resilient to change. As such, a receptor can be considered as existing within a spectrum of 'vulnerable' to 'resilient', with the former more likely to experience significant impacts as a result of a given change.

Receptor value takes into consideration its quality and its importance as represented, for example, by its conservation status, its cultural importance and / or its economic value. It recognises that, for a given magnitude impact, different receptors (either directly or indirectly) may be deemed to be of greater importance and as such the significance of the impact is greater than the impact magnitude alone.

Similar to the approach adopted for impact magnitude, a structured description of receptor sensitivity employed a qualitative category scale of negligible, low, moderate, and high for each of the sensitivity characteristics, resilience and value. Likewise, criteria for receptor sensitivity (i.e. negligible, low, moderate and high ranking criteria) were developed as appropriate for each discipline, and are described in Chapters 7 to 12.

# 3.3.5 Impact Significance

Impact magnitude and receptor sensitivity were used to assess impact significance according to the impact assessment matrix in Table 3.3, and the impact assessment definitions in Table 3.4.

For adverse impacts, this methodology was applied to both pre- and post-mitigation scenarios for all impacts identified. The significance matrix provides basic guidance for the determination of impact significance; however, the resulting significance level was also interpreted based on professional judgement and expertise, and the definitions provided in Table 3.4, and adjusted if necessary. The reasoning behind each evaluation is explained in the Chapters 7 to 12, depending on the relevant discipline, including a detailed discussion of the issues contributing to the determination of residual significance.

The impact assessment in each technical chapter includes an impact summary table for each phase of the Project (an example is presented in Table 3.5), including residual impact significance ratings for all impacts identified.



		Receptor Sensitivity (Vulnerability and Value)				
		Negligible	Low	Moderate	High	
Extent, bility,	Negligible	Not significant	Not significant	Not significant	Not significant / Low*	
nitude (F Reversil ation)	Low	Not significant	Low	Low / Moderate <sup>†</sup>	Moderate	
act Magi quency, Dur	Moderate	Not significant	Low / Moderate	Moderate	High	
Impi Fre	High	Low	Moderate	High	High	

#### **Table 3.3 Impacts Significance Matrix**

 $\ast$  Allows technical discipline author to decide if impact significance is **Not significant** or **Low**  $\dagger$  Allows technical discipline author to decide if impact significance is **Low** or **Moderate** 

# **Table 3.4 Impact Significance Definitions**

Adverse Impacts	High	<b>Significant</b> . Impacts with a " <b>High</b> " significance are likely to disrupt the function and value of the resource/receptor, and may have broader systemic consequences (e.g. ecosystem or social well-being). These impacts are a priority for mitigation in order to avoid or reduce the significance of the impact.
	Moderate	<b>Significant</b> . Impacts with a " <b>Moderate</b> " significance are likely to be noticeable and result in lasting changes to baseline conditions, which may cause hardship to or degradation of the resource or receptor, although the overall function and value of the resource or receptor is not disrupted. These impacts are a priority for mitigation in order to avoid or reduce the significance of the impact.
	Low	<b>Detectable but not significant</b> . Impacts with a " <b>Low</b> " significance are expected to be noticeable changes to baseline conditions, beyond natural variation, but are not expected to cause hardship, degradation, or impair the function and value of the resource or receptor. However, these impacts warrant the attention of decision-makers, and should be avoided or mitigated where practicable.
	Not significant	<b>Not Significant</b> . Any impacts are expected to be indistinguishable from the baseline or within the natural level of variation. These impacts do not require mitigation and are not a concern of the decision-making process.

Activity	Potential Impact	Receptor(s)	Receptor Sensitivity	Impact Magnitude	Pre-Mitigation Impact Significance	Summary of Mitigation Measures	Residual Impact Significance
Vessel routine operations Night time works.	Birds (particularly those that migrate at night) may be attracted to lights and suffer damage as a result of collisions with vessels.	Birds	Moderate to High	Negligible to Low	Moderate	Remove unnecessary illumination, reduce light intensity and shield light sources during the most active migration period for birds.	<b>Low</b> , direct, short term

# Table 3.5 Assessment of Potential Impacts: Example Table



# 3.3.6 Waste

In contrast to the other environmental and social technical disciplines assessed within this ESIA Report, no pre-mitigation assessment of impact was undertaken for waste production, storage, management and disposal as this is considered part of the Project design, as described in **Chapter 5 Project Description**. Rather, **Chapter 12 Waste Management** focuses upon identification of appropriate mitigation measures given the type and volume of wastes to be produced and identification of residual impact significance ratings. This methodology is described in further detail in **Chapter 12 Waste Management**.

# 3.3.7 Unplanned Events

Environmental and social impacts that might result from unplanned events (e.g. fuel spill) are addressed in **Chapter 13 Unplanned Events** of this ESIA Report. In addition to impact magnitude and receptor sensitivity, the impact assessment methodology for unplanned events also considered the likelihood of occurrence of the event(s). This methodology is described in further detail in **Chapter 13 Unplanned Events**.

# 3.3.8 Cumulative Impacts

This ESIA adopts the IFC definition of cumulative impacts (Ref. 3.7): "*Cumulative impacts are those that result from the incremental impact of the Project when added to other existing, planned and reasonably predictable future projects and developments.*"

The IFC has released a guidance note Cumulative Impact Assessment and Management – Guidance for the Private Sector in Emerging Markets in August 2013 (Ref. 3.8). The guidance note introduces a framework for identifying and assessing potentially significant cumulative impacts. The cumulative impact assessment (CIA) has been prepared taking into account the IFC guidance note.

A predominantly qualitative approach was taken in the identification and assessment of cumulative impacts during the construction and operations phases of the Project, taking into account geographic and scheduling overlaps with the Project. The methodology for the CIA is described in further detail in **Chapter 14 Cumulative Impact Assessment**.

# 3.3.9 Transboundary Impacts

Transboundary impacts are defined as:

"Impacts that extend to multiple countries, beyond the host country of the project, but are not global in nature. Examples include air pollution extending to multiple countries, use or pollution of international waterways, and transboundary epidemic disease transmission" (Ref. 3.7).

As the South Stream Offshore Pipeline spans multiple countries and is being constructed across a dynamic marine environment, there is the potential for some Project Activities to generate transboundary impacts. Such impacts may arise from Project Activities which traverse country boundaries, or impacts that originate within one country, but have the ability to extend across national borders.

For the purposes of the transboundary impact assessment included within this ESIA Report, the boundary of the Turkish EEZ in the Black Sea with its neighbouring countries defines the transboundary impact boundaries. Any changes in baseline conditions extending across these boundaries would be considered to be a transboundary impact.

IFC PS1 (Ref. 3.7) recognises the need to consider transboundary impacts. The transboundary impact assessment has considered the potential for transboundary impacts to be generated by the Project as required by IFC PS1.

Further details regarding potential transboundary impacts can be found in **Chapter 15 Transboundary Impact Assessment**.

### 3.3.10 Impact Mitigation

As part of the ESIA process, where the impact assessment identified impacts as potentially arising, mitigation measures, which the Project will commit to, were developed (including avoidance, management and monitoring actions). Where an adverse impact is identified, the next step is to find a way to avoid or minimise the impact.

The process of identifying "design controls" and "mitigation measures" considered the mitigation hierarchy (Figure 3.4), as specified in IFC PS1, which is widely regarded as a best practice approach to managing risks.



#### Figure 3.4 Mitigation Hierarchy



For the Project, efforts were made to firstly avoid or prevent, then minimise or reduce adverse impacts, which were principally achieved through the application of "design controls" (Section 3.2). Avoidance, minimisation, repair and/or restoration were considered during the application of "mitigation measures" to manage the risks of adverse impacts. Any remaining significant residual impacts would then be considered in terms of offsetting or compensation.

For biodiversity, the same hierarchy was applied to all stages of the impact assessment process. Any significant residual impacts were addressed via offsetting or compensation in order to achieve "no net loss" of biodiversity. The assessment of critical habitat for biodiversity was identified separately to the above impact assessment process, albeit using the same hierarchy, to achieve "net gain" of the biodiversity values for which the critical habitat was designated.

The mitigation hierarchy adopted for the Project is shown in Figure 3.4.

This process involved ESIA experts working with the Project team engineers to identify practicable and cost-effective approaches to mitigate impacts. These measures were agreed and integrated into the Environmental and Social Management Plan.

Specific mitigation measures are described in the relevant discipline Chapters (Chapters 7 to 12).

### 3.3.11 Residual Impact Assessment

Once feasible mitigation measures were identified and agreed, the ESIA team reassessed the potential impacts, assuming the mitigation measures were effectively implemented as planned.

In general, residual adverse impacts assessed as being of "**Low**" significance or "**Not Significant**" were not considered to be of concern to the development of the Project<sup>3</sup>. For adverse impacts of "**Moderate**" and "**High**" significance, an iterative process is undertaken to further investigate opportunities for mitigation, according to the hierarchy above. Where the significance cannot be further reduced, an explanation is provided of why further reduction is not practicable. Monitoring is required to confirm the measures used to mitigate adverse impacts are working properly and that the impact is not worse than predicted. Monitoring requirements are outlined in the respective assessment chapters.

# 3.3.12 Environmental and Social Management Plans

Environmental and Social Management Plans (ESMPs) have been developed to capture all mitigation and management measures, and environmental and social commitments made within the ESIA Report. Adherence to these plans will be a condition of any Project construction and operation contracts awarded. It is noted that, the ESMPs shall also incorporate environmental

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> A more stringent approach was taken in the assessment of ecological receptors of high sensitivity, such as critical habitat, or species classified as having vulnerable or above conservation status. In this case, residual impact significance of Low and above was a concern to the further development of the Project.

and social management commitments relevant to the Bulgarian and Russian sectors. How the ESMPs fit into this broader South Stream Transport HSSE-IMS is described in **Chapter 16 Environmental and Social Management**.

# 3.4 Stakeholder Engagement

As part of the ESIA process, stakeholder engagement was and continues to be undertaken throughout the development of the Project to ensure that all interested parties are aware and informed of the Project and have an opportunity to provide feedback regarding potential Project impacts and mitigation measures. To date, consultations have been undertaken with:

- National authorities;
- Regional authorities;
- Black Sea coastal communities;
- Marine area users;
- Non-governmental organisations (NGOs); and
- Academic and scientific organisations.

South Stream Transport has developed a Stakeholder Engagement Plan which identifies stakeholders and their interests, describes the consultation undertaken and that planned as part of the Project's ESIA process, and establishes a framework for stakeholder engagement activities to be undertaken as the Project progresses beyond the ESIA phase.

The stakeholder consultation process has helped the ESIA Report to scope potential impacts and concerns identified by the public. As indicated in Figure 3.1, stakeholder consultation has been a part of the ESIA process from the initial screening phase, and will continue with the submission of this ESIA Report, and during Project implementation to ensure the management of impacts takes stakeholder's concerns into account.

Details of the stakeholder engagement process for the ESIA are discussed further in **Chapter 6 Stakeholder Engagement**.

This ESIA Report has been released to the public for review and comment. The purpose of this disclosure is:

- To help stakeholders understand the potential impacts, following the application of mitigation measures, that may arise as a result of the Project;
- To provide an opportunity for stakeholders to raise comments or concerns about the Project, and request any additional mitigation measures deemed appropriate; and
- To confirm to stakeholders that their opinions obtained through the stakeholder engagement process have been considered in both Project design and ESIA evaluation.

Further details about this disclosure are provided in **Chapter 6 Stakeholder Engagement**.



# 3.5 Data Limitations

This ESIA Report has been based on design information available at the time of its preparation. Where necessary assumptions have been made and discussed in the relevant chapters. Consequently the ESIA Report has been undertaken on Project engineering design information at a Front End Engineering Design (FEED) level.

During the detailed design, Construction and Pre-commissioning and Operational Phases of the Project, there may be a requirement to amend design elements or processes which results in a deviation from that presented in this Project description. The Project has a management of change process to manage and track any such amendments, and to:

- Assess their potential consequences with respect to environmental and social impact; and
- In cases where a significant impact is likely to arise as a consequence of the amendment or change, to inform and consult with relevant parties on the nature of the impact and on proposed mitigation measures, where practical and appropriate.

All design changes will be added to a register of changes, which will summarise the change, the assessment, and the justification for South Stream Transport's actions. The management of change process will be incorporated into the HSSE management of change procedure, which is described in further detail in **Chapter 16 Environmental and Social Management**.

Comprehensive data have been used to inform this ESIA Report to enable sufficient confidence in the assessment conclusions. Notwithstanding the data set used, some gaps in baseline data necessitated some conservative assumptions as described in the relevant chapters and a precautionary approach to the mitigation measures adopted.

In this ESIA Report, predictions are made using accepted ESIA methods ranging from qualitative assessment and expert judgement to quantitative modelling. Each technical discipline impact assessments, in Chapters 7 to 12, detail specific relevant data and assumptions made.

# References

Number	Reference
Ref. 3.1	South Stream Transport B.V. Turkish Sector Scoping Report (July 2013), http://www.south-stream- offshore.com/media/documents/pdf/en/2013/07/ssttby_scoping-report-turkish- sector_56_en_20130717.pdf. Accessed on 15 October 2013.
Ref. 3.2	Peter Gaz (2011). Complex engineering surveys at the phase "design documentation" within the framework of the "South Stream" gas pipeline marine sector project implementation. Technical documentation Volume 5: Environmental survey. Part 3 Environmental survey, The Turkish sector. Book 3: Technical report, and Book 4 Technical Appendices.
Ref. 3.3	Peter Gaz (2012) Complex Engineering Surveys at Design Documentation Phase as Part of South Stream Gas Pipeline marine Section. Volume 18: Integrated Report on First Phase. Part 2: Integrated Report. Book 7: Appendix 6 Catalogue of Side-Scan Sonar Targets (Ref. No. 6976.101.004.21.14.18.02.07(1)).
Ref. 3.4	Seascape Consultants Ltd. 2013. Interpretation of Seabed Survey Data for the South Stream Offshore Pipeline Project, Report No 2013/07.
Ref. 3.5	MRAG (2013). South Stream Offshore Pipeline – Fishing Study. Report Ref. BG1732.
Ref. 3.6	ISO. 2001. European Standard EN ISO 14001: 2004. Environmental management systems – Requirements with guidance for use. http://www.iso.org/iso/catalogue_detail?csnumber=31807. Accessed on 17 May 2013.
Ref. 3.7	IFC.2012. IFC Performance Standards on Environmental and Social Sustainability - Effective January 1, 2012 Performance Standards. <u>http://www1.ifc.org/wps/wcm/connect/c8f524004a73daeca09afdf998895a12/IFC_Perf</u> ormance_Standards.pdf?MOD=AJPERES. Accessed on 17 May 2013.
Ref. 3.8	IFC (2013) Good Practice Note: Cumulative Impact Assessment and Management – Guidance for the Private Sector in Emerging Markets (August 2013). <u>http://www.ifc.org/wps/wcm/connect/c635da004e5fcb908dd3adfce4951bf6/CIA_PNG_ExternalReview.pdf?MOD=AJPERES</u> . Accessed on 20 September 2013.